
MINUTES 
REGULAR PLANNING COMMISSION MEETING 

MAY 10, 2016 
CORTE MADERA TOWN HALL 

CORTE MADERA 
 
 
COMMISSIONERS PRESENT:  Chair Peter Chase 
      Vice-Chair Phyllis Metcalfe  
      Commissioner Robert Bundy   
      Commissioner Nicolo Caldera 
 
COMMISSIONERS ABSENT:  Commissioner Dan McCadden 
    
STAFF PRESENT:     Adam Wolff, Planning Director 
      Phil Boyle, Senior Planner 
      Doug Bush, Assistant Planner 
      Joanne O’Hehir, Minutes Secretary 
 
 
1. OPENING  
 

A. Call to Order – The meeting was called to order at 7:30 p.m. 
 
B. Pledge of Allegiance 
 
C. Roll Call – All the commissioners were present with the exception of 

Commissioner McCadden.  
 
 
2. PUBLIC COMMENT  
 
 Cindy Winter, Greenbrae resident, discussed a future innovation workshop that will 

address autonomous cars and ride-sharing aps, and her hope that officials from the 
Town will attend the workshop. 

 
 Phyllis Galanis, Prince Royal Drive, discussed her concern that the clock face at 

Town Center is too bright and asked if the lumens are within the parameters allowed 
under the permit. Ms. Galanis said there do not appear to be dimmers in operation.  

  
3. CONSENT CALENDAR – None 
 
4. CONTINUED HEARINGS – None  
 
5. NEW HEARINGS – None 
 



Planning Commission Meeting Minutes 
May 10, 2016 
 

2 

 
6. BUSINESS ITEMS  
 

A. 159 PRINCE ROYAL DRIVE – PRELIMINARY REVIEW OF DESIGN REVIEW 
APPLICATION NO. PL-2016-0007 COMPLETE REMODEL AND THIRD LEVEL 
ADDITION TO AN EXISTING TWO LEVEL SINGLE-FAMILY DWELLING. 
(Assistant Planner Doug Bush) 

 
Assistant Planner Bush presented the staff report. Mr. Bush said that the goal of 
tonight’s discussions is to obtain feedback from the commissioners and members of the 
public on the proposed application. He discussed the significant remodel and third-story 
addition to the home, noting that the garage will be moved  
 
Mr. Bush discussed the site plan, new entryway and a bump out on the west side. He 
noted that the proposed addition meets lot coverage, setback requirements, FAR and 
height restrictions. Mr. Bush said the lot slopes downwards and that the adjacent home 
to the east is stepped back and is higher than the existing home. He said that the 
neighbor is concerned that the proposal will impact their views and that there are further 
concerns about the size, mass and potential view issues that the addition might cause.  
 
Joel Hernandez, owner of 159 Prince Royal Drive, discussed their proposal. In 
designing the addition, he said they have tried to remain within the town’s parameters 
and that they have performed neighborhood outreach, which he discussed. Mr. 
Hernandez said they have received positive feedback with some concerns expressed 
about the size.  
 
Mr. Hernandez said the proposed height is similar to the neighboring dwelling with an 
increase of approximately 5 feet. He discussed the 10 foot extension on the west side, 
which will accommodate some of their living/dining areas. 
  
Commissioner Caldera asked Mr. Hernandez to comment on there being differences 
between the existing and proposed site plan, including the proposed setback from the 
road. In response, Mr. Hernandez said the footprint meets all the setbacks and that he 
could not comment specifically on any differences between the plans. 
 
In response to Vice-Chair Metcalfe, Mr. Hernandez said that a neighbor who lives 
directly across the street declined to provide written support for the project because they 
have issues with the proposed increased height, which they believe is greater than 5 
feet.  Mr. Hernandez said he has not been in communication with another neighbor who 
has expressed their concern about the proposed height with staff.  
 
Margaret Bandel, 180 Prince Royal, explained that she was unable to attend the 
applicant’s meeting and that, having reviewed the plans at Town Hall, she strongly 
objects to the project. Ms. Bandel said her view of the San Rafael hills will be affected 
and her view of a sliver of water and the ferry building will be removed. Ms. Bandel 
provided photographic materials showing how her views will be impacted. Furthermore, 



Planning Commission Meeting Minutes 
May 10, 2016 
 

3 

Ms. Bendel noted said the design will be the only three-story home in the neighborhood, 
which will be out-of-character.  
 
Jan Keizer, 172 Prince Royal, said that he lives directly across the street and that he 
also strenuously objects to the proposed design. Mr. Keizer said he did not have an 
opportunity to attend the meeting but that the design has the appearance of an 
apartment house. He said the proposal is out-of-character with the neighborhood and 
that other homeowners might modify their homes to three stories to the detriment of the 
neighborhood. Mr. Keizer noted that the proposed addition will not affect his views.  
 
Phyllis Galanis, Prince Royal Drive, said she had not been aware of the proposed 
addition and that it would not block her view. However, she said she does not support 
three-story dwellings, which are out-of-character with the neighborhood.  
 
Tamila Faridjoo, 163 Prince Royal Drive, said she was excited at the prospect of a new 
house and that she disagrees it will resemble an apartment building. However, Ms. 
Faridjoo said the additional height increase will block their view of Mt. Tamalpais and 
will affect her bathroom design. She expressed concern that the proposed design will 
result in the main bedroom overlooking her yard and she asked if the bedroom and 
bathroom could be switched to resolve this problem.  
 
Vice-Chair Metcalfe asked Mr. Hernandez if they would erect story poles to clarify the 
height.  
 
Commissioner Bundy expressed concern about the potential view impacts on the 
neighbor at 163 Prince Royal, and said that the balconies might cause a potential 
problem. Commissioner Bundy said he likes the design if it were not too impactful on 
the neighbors, and that he had reviewed the neighborhood and had seen other 
dwellings that appeared to have 3 stories. Commissioner Bundy noted that the lot is 
large and that there should be room for the proposed dwelling and that he agrees story 
poles should be erected.  
  
In response to Vice-Chair Metcalfe, Ms. Faridjoo said that their privacy issue would be 
resolved if the bedroom windows were higher.  
 
Chair Chase said the plans indicate that the height is an additional 8 feet, so either the 
plans are incorrect or the height is being increased by that amount. In response, Mr. 
Hernandez said the correct increase in height should be 5 feet and 1 inch. Chair Chase 
also questioned the reason for a three-story dwelling design with a single story garage, 
rather than gaining the extra space by adding a second story to the garage. He said the 
design will significantly block the neighbor’s view at ____________Prince Royal Drive 
and asked if Mr. Hernandez had visited their home, to which Mr. Hernandez replied 
negatively. Mr. Hernandez explained that they believed there would be issues if they 
added a second story to the garage.  
 



Planning Commission Meeting Minutes 
May 10, 2016 
 

4 

Chair Chase said that views from the neighboring properties would be affected to some 
extent if a second story is added to the garage, but that adding a third story to the main 
dwelling would significantly affect their views and would cast a significant shadow 
across the neighbor’s house in the afternoon.  
 
Mr. Hernandez discussed the reasons for their design, and said the new windows would 
be clerestory so as to provide light while not affecting the neighbor at 163 Prince Royal. 
Mr. Hernandez said that there are dwellings in the immediate vicinity that have the 
appearance of a third story, so he disagrees that his design will not match the character 
of the neighborhood.  
 
Chair Chase noted that the preliminary application has a lot of missing information, such 
as a representation showing the position of the house in relation to other dwellings in 
the area and the absence of an imprint of the existing home under the proposed new 
design. He said that the loss of views are significant and said it is necessary for Mr. 
Hernandez to gain permission from his neighbor to view his prospective design from her 
windows to ascertain the effects and perhaps consider different design alternatives. 
 
Chair Chase requested section drawings and noted that they are unable to ascertain if a 
second story on the garage would block views of Mt. Tamalpais from reviewing the 
current set of plans.  
 
Vice-Chair Metcalfe said she would like to see story poles in place and agrees with 
Chair Chase that drawings should be presented showing the proposed house 
superimposed on the current dwelling. Vice-Chair Metcalfe said that views from a 
bathroom window are not considered primary views but that they need to know what is 
being blocked by the proposed addition.  
 
Commissioner Bundy agrees that story poles should be erected and that he would be 
willing to visit the neighbors whose views will be potentially impacted, noting that Ms. 
Faridjoo is potentially the worst affected.  Commissioner Bundy commented on trees 
blocking more of the view than the garage and that he would support a bedroom 
window design that was higher.  
 
Commissioner Caldera expressed his agreement with the previous commissioners in 
that the design needs addressing. He said he likes the contemporary design and that 
the plans need to be accurate. Commissioner Caldera requested elevation plans, a site 
plan and plans showing the location of other dwellings in the immediate neighborhood in 
relation to the subject property. He said that the applicant must provide information 
showing that the prospective addition will not significantly impact their neighbors’ views 
and he commented on the initial plans being inadequate. Commissioner Caldera said 
there appears to be sufficient landscaping to provide adequate screening from the street 
and that they might consider adding more landscaping. 
 
Chair Chase summarized the issues relating to the view impacts, height and the three-
story proposal on an upslope, including a massive wall. He commented on the slab, 



Planning Commission Meeting Minutes 
May 10, 2016 
 

5 

noting that it would probably need replacing and that he would be surprised if no more 
than 75% - 80% of the current dwelling would need replacing. Chair Chase clarified the 
required information, and said the applicant needs to either reduce the impact of the 
three stories or reduce the elevation, which he noted would require a new retaining wall, 
which he discussed. Chair Chase said the plans must clarify the height which appears 
to be more than an 8 foot increase, and he suggested that articulation on west side of 
building would reduce the immensity of structure. He said that something creative is 
needed to provide an architectural break in the wall and asked that they are honest 
about the amount of demolition that is planned.  
 
Chair Chase noted that the neighbors’ views seem to be significantly impacted and that 
he would like to see the location of Mt. Tamalpais in relation to the proposed addition. 
He asked for clarification of what the neighbors have said or written. 
 
Ms. Faridjoo provided photographic evidence on her phone showing how the view of Mt. 
Tamalpais from her bedroom window will be blocked.  
 
Planning Director Wolff said that staff could work with the applicant in considering the 
comments made tonight. 
  
Chair Chase closed the discussion item before reopening the public comment period. In 
response to Mrs. Faridjoo, Chair Chase said that it is in their purview to review the 
architectural drawings and consider whether a proposed project fits the character of the 
neighborhood. Mr. Wolff said that findings must be made relating to the proposed 
materials and site plan, for example, and to evaluate the design’s compatibility with the 
neighborhood.  
 
Mr. Bush explained that the applicant could incorporate the comments made this 
evening in his plans and provide an updated application. He said that staff will assess 
the application for completeness and that there will be a formal notice preceding the 
next hearing. Chair Chase noted that the applicant can choose to amend his application 
or not, and the commissioners can approve or deny the project. He commented on the 
importance of communications with the neighbors.  
 
Vice-Chair Metcalfe noted that a design could be approved, despite neighborhood 
objections, as long as the design is considered compatible with the neighborhood and 
meets the FAR and height requirements. She asked that netting is used when erecting 
the story poles.  
 
Commissioner Bundy commented on the variety of dwelling styles in the neighborhood, 
noting that it has changed over time and that the proposed design is a good fit with 
some of the newer renovations. Commissioner Caldera agreed that the design fits the 
trend.  
 
Chair Chase closed the discussion item at 8:35 p.m. 
 



Planning Commission Meeting Minutes 
May 10, 2016 
 

6 

B. 220 GRANADA DRIVE – PRELIMINARY REVIEW OF DESIGN REVIEW 
APPLICATION NO. PL-2016-0037 DEMOLITION OF AN EXISTING SINGLE 
LEVEL SINGLE-FAMILY DWELLING AND CONSTRUCTION OF A NEW TWO 
LEVEL DWELLING. (Assistant Planner Doug Bush) 

 
 Assistant Planner Bush presented the staff report. Mr. Bush discussed the request to 

demolish and replace a single-story dwelling with a two-story home. He discussed the 
design, including a two-car garage, with the upper level stepped back from the lower 
level. Mr. Bush noted that the modular home meets all development standards for the 
R1 district for height, lot coverage and FAR. He discussed the materials that have been 
included in the packet to facilitate the discussion.  

 
 Bill Zeller, Owner, discussed their plans to donate materials from their home and that 

they would be adding a story in keeping with the neighborhood. Mr. Zweller discussed 
neighborhood outreach, noting that a neighbor to the north had a minor issue with 
windows on the north side, which they have addressed, and he said the height change 
will not be significant because they already have a pitched roof.  
 
Toby Long, Designer, discussed the design. He said the main purpose of the design is 
to take advantage of the views to Mt. Tamalpais, and that they have chosen a softer, 
more contemporary design. Mr. Long said they have tried to incorporate the flavor of the 
community, such as adding wood siding and stucco that are prevalent in the 
neighborhood. Mr. Long confirmed the building will be constructed off site and that the 
size of the home will be 3,0000 square feet. He said they are trying to work with the 
curb cut and are keeping the garage in the same location.  
 
Mr. Long and Commissioner Bundy discussed access to the site in relation to 
construction vehicles. Mr. Long said they have good access and will formulate a traffic 
control plan, which he discussed. He discussed the process of siting the house on the 
property. Mr. Long said that the foundation needs to be laid and that it should take a day 
to set the house on the foundation. He noted that the exterior is unfinished but the 
interior will be mostly finished. Mr. Long discussed the work on the roof and eaves.  
 
Vice-Chair Metcalfe and Mr. Long discussed the exterior materials and the use of 
sustainable materials and systems. Mr. Long said they would investigate the use of a 
photovoltaic system and water conservation system.  
 
Chair Chase asked the applicant to collate feedback from the neighbors before he 
opened the public comment period.  
 
Frank Devlin, 224 Granada Drive, discussed a concern with the windows on the east 
side, which he said has been addressed. In response to Mr. Devlin, Chair Chase 
confirmed that story poles will be erected.  
 
Phyllis Galanis, Prince Royal Drive, said that the design looks good but she expressed 
concern that the back of the dwelling will consist entirely of windows, causing light 



Planning Commission Meeting Minutes 
May 10, 2016 
 

7 

pollution. Ms. Galanis also expressed concern about a slide that had happened in the 
vicinity in the past, construction vehicle problems, the availability of a soils report and 
whether the new modular could cause soils instability.  
 
Vice-Chair Metcalfe suggested tinting for the windows, which she discussed. Mr. Long 
said they would be proposing a screen element on the upper windows, and exterior 
lights would not cast light upwards. He noted that the lower floor will be screened with 
vegetation, and that they will take the suggestion of window tinting under advisement.  
 
Commissioner Bundy said the design seems to fit the style of dwellings in the 
neighborhood.  He and Mr. Long discussed rainwater catchment and Mr. Long 
confirmed he is an advocate of creating rainwater catchment areas.  
 
Commissioner Caldera commented on their being provided with complete plans, albeit 
further information is still needed. Commissioner Caldera said the dwelling is an 
intelligent design and that, having worked with modular homes, he understands the 
advantages. He said he does not foresee major issues and that he would like to see a 
detailed landscape plan.  
 
In response to Chair Chase, Mr. Zweller said he had spoken to his neighbor at 216 
Granada, who had not discussed any concerns with him. Mr. Zweller said their house is 
two stories and that the side that faces their new home does not have windows.  Chair 
Chase requested a plan showing the elevations and Mr. Long confirmed they would 
include a plan showing the houses at 224 and 216 in context with the Zweller’s property.  
 
Mr. Zweller said that there has not been a slide on his property as far as he is aware 
and Mr. Long confirmed that a geotechnical report will be submitted.  
  
Chair Chase and Mr. Long discussed using gray water from laundry and shower 
facilities, which Mr. Long said they could consider. He discussed the difficulty of using 
such water that relates to storage and maintenance facilities.  
 
Chair Chase commented on the need for further information on the location of the 
proposed dwelling in relation to neighboring properties before closing the discussion 
and announcing a 10-minute break at 9:05 p.m. 
 
  
7. ROUTINE AND OTHER MATTERS 
 

A. REPORTS, ANNOUNCEMENTS AND REQUESTS 
 

i. Commissioners 
 
Vice-Chair Metcalfe commented on the May 3rd Town Council meeting she had 
attended where subjects relating to the centennial celebrations, including a vintage car 
show, weekend birthday celebrations and family outings had been discussed.  Vice-



Planning Commission Meeting Minutes 
May 10, 2016 
 

8 

Chair Metcalfe said that Planning Director Wolff attended the Town Council Meeting as 
acting Town Manager. She reported that biological issues relating to the Corte Madera 
Inn pond prevents the hotel project moving forward to the Town Council.  
 
Vice-Chair Metcalfe commented on Town Council discussions regarding the pedestrian 
crossing flags at Tamalpais Avenue. She said the Council has directed the project to 
continue while the Town Attorney reviews the insurance issues.  
 

ii. Planning Director 
 
Mr. Wolff noted that new information must be evaluated in relation to the EIR before any 
decision can be made to move the Corte Madera Inn project forward.  
 
Mr. Wolff noted that an appeal to the Town Council regarding 359 Chapman Drive was 
denied and that the Town Council’s decision is the final action.  
 
Planning Director Wolff said that staff will try to schedule discussions on the Tamal Vista 
Corridor Draft Report for the Planning Commission meeting of June 14th, and he noted 
that he will not be in attendance at the second meeting in June. 
 
Mr. Wolff noted that the active projects list has been updated on the Town’s website. He 
said that 516 Chapman is tentatively scheduled for the May 24th meeting and 
Commissioner Caldera requested information on the item at an earlier time than usual.  
 
 

iii. Tentative Agenda Items for May 24, 2016 Planning Commission Meeting 
 

1. 5627 PARADISE DRIVE (NUGGET MARKET) – DESIGN REVIEW 
APPLICATION FOR EXTERIOR FAÇADE IMPROVEMENTS  

2. 516 CHAPMAN DRIVE – REVISED LANDSCAPE AND VEGETATION 
MANAGEMENT PLAN 

3. 136 SUMMIT DRIVE – REVISED LANDSCAPE PLAN 
4. 1618 REDWOOD HIGHWAY (THE VILLAGE) – DESIGN REVIEW, 

PRELIMINARY AND PRECISE PLAN AMENDMENTS APPLICATION 
FOR THE VILLAGE CENTER COURT ENHANCEMENTS: TOWER 
REMOVAL, LANDSCAPING, SEATING, AND ADDITION OF (3) 
300SF DINING KIOSKS 

 
B.   MINUTES 
 

i. Planning Commission Meeting Minutes of March 31, 2016 
 

MOTION:   Motioned by Commissioner Caldera, seconded by Vice-Chair 
Metcalfe, to approve the minutes of March 31, 2016 with the following 
amendment:  

 



Planning Commission Meeting Minutes 
May 10, 2016 
 

9 

Page 13, fourth paragraph “Commissioner Caldera quoted from the building code in 
relation to new construction……..evaluating such a project”, was amended to read: 
“Commissioner Caldera quoted from the building code section relating to new 
construction.  He said that, based on the specific code section, the project would qualify 
as new construction and therefore requires design review”. 
 

AYES:  Metcalfe, Chase, Caldera 
ABSTENTION: Bundy 
ABSENT:  McCadden  

 
ii. Planning Commission Meeting Minutes of April 26, 2016 

 
MOTION:   Motioned by Vice-Chair Metcalfe, seconded by Commissioner 
Caldera, to approve the minutes of April 26, 2016: 
 
AYES:  Metcalfe, Chase, Caldera 
ABSTENTION: Bundy 
ABSENT:  McCadden  

 
8. ADJOURNMENT 
 
A Motion was made, seconded and unanimously approved to adjourn the meeting at 
9:33 p.m. 


